
Gifford Pinchot Concession Campgrounds Prospectus Questions 
 

 

1. Who is the current campground concessioner? 
ANSWER:  Hoodoo Recreation Services 

2. Why did the Forest Service NOT hold a site visit and/or official tour of the facilities for this 
solicitation, as is done for all other FS campgrounds management permit solicitations? 
ANSWER:  The Gifford Pinchot National Forest (GPNF) elected to allow prospective applicants the 
opportunity to visit the various campgrounds at their leisure.  This does not restrict prospective 
applicants to a single date for the site visit.  In addition, it allows prospective applicant to spend as 
much or as little time at each campground to best fit their personal schedule.  Questions can be 
submitted and will be posted to websites.  See Answer to #3 below. 

3. Does the FS have a deadline for the submission of questions pertaining to this solicitation? Will the FS 
answer all questions submitted by a certain date? What date? Will the FS publish ALL questions received 
from all interested parties? Does the FS alter or edit the submitted questions before they are published? 

ANSWER: Deadline – Questions should be received by noon on Wednesday, August 7.   Forest Service 
staff plan to answer questions within 3 working days.  Technical questions may take a bit longer.  Please 
plan accordingly.  GPNF staff answer questions as they are received.  Answers are posted to the website:   

http://www.fs.usda.gov/goto/gp/campgrounds OR 

at Federal Business Opportunities website: 

https://www.fbo.gov 

GPNF staff intent is to answer all non-duplicative questions without edits – unless necessary for 
clarification.  

4. We understand that we are to submit four copies of our application. The prospectus also states that we 
are to submit two copies of our business plan. So do we submit SIX total copies of the business plan or 
just two copies total? 

ANSWER:  Prospective applicants should submit 4 complete Application Packages, including the Business 
Plan pieces as listed in Section IV C Application Package Requirements on Page 27; plus two copies of the 
business plan, as indicated in Section IV C 2 SBDC Review on page 29 for a total of six.  

5. The prospectus states that "A Forest Service evaluation panel will evaluate each application utilizing 
the non-fixed weight method." Please explain what the non-fixed weight method is and how it is used. 

ANSWER:  The non-fixed weight method is a qualitative evaluation method, as opposed to the fixed-
weight method (a quantitative evaluation method) where numerical weights would be assigned to 
each criteria.  GPNF elected to use the non-fixed weight method to evaluate the evaluation criteria in 
descending order of importance.   

The evaluation panel reviews each of the evaluation criteria individually, then the entire application 
package before making a recommendation to the Forest Supervisor for award.    

http://www.fs.usda.gov/goto/gp/campgrounds
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6. The prospectus lists the evaluation criteria, in order of importance. We noticed that "Fee to Government" 
is the first listed (i.e. most important). In all of the other recent prospectuses for GT permits for FS 
campgrounds, we have seen "Fee to the Government" listed LAST in this order of importance list, 
indicating that it was the least important criterion. Therefore we are wondering why this GPNF 
prospectus is so significantly different in this respect and why the Fee to the Government is the most 
important criterion? 

ANSWER:  Each Forest prioritizes the evaluation criteria according to their needs for their campground 
prospectus.  The GPNF determined Fee to the Government as our top priority.  GPNF cannot speak to 
other Forests’ needs or situations.  

Please note in Section IV B General Terms, Qualifications, and Reservations page 26:  “The Forest Service 
is not obligated to accept the application with the highest return to Government.” 

7. We understand that the Business Plan will be independently reviewed by the El Camino College SBDC – 
will the FS also review the Business Plan?  

ANSWER:  Yes 

8. Regarding the SBDC review of the Business Plan – what type of scoring system will the SBDC use? Do 
they simply ensure that the Business Plan is adequate? Or do they actually score the Business Plans 
relative to the other Business Plans received? 

ANSWER:  The SBDC ensures the adequacy of business plans. A non-numerical rating is give to each 
business plan independent of other plans submitted.   

9. For the Business Plan, in Part 2., we are wondering about the "Cash Flow Projection (or Cash Flow 
Budget) by Month: Year One" document... this table looks like a monthly income statement projection 
(very similar to the "Income Projection by Month: Year One" table also provided in the Sample 
Business Plan). Normally, a Cash Flow Statement takes Net Income from the income statement and 
add/subtracts cash flows from three categories: operating activities, financing activities, and investing 
activities.   Our question is:  does the Forest Service/SBDC want two different versions of an income 
statement projection, as provided in the Sample) or should we provide an ACTUAL cash flow 
statement projection and ignore the incorrect one in the Sample? 

ANSWER:  Yes the two documents ask for some of the same information.  Both can be used as planning 
tools.  Yes, the GPNF expects prospective applicants to complete both forms.  

10.  Who will be on the evaluation team for the applications received? Will the FS use employees and/or 
managers of the Gifford Pinchot NF? Will the FS use the Forest Service Enterprise Team for the 
evaluation? Will the FS use any outside, i.e. non-FS employees, for the evaluation and if so, where are 
they from and will they be allowed to “score” the applications and/or “vote” on the award? 

 
ANSWER:   The evaluation team has not been finalized as yet but will be comprised of Forest Service 
employees.  This could include off-Forest specialists as well as other Forest Service specialists.  The 
Evaluation Team will make a recommendation to the Forest Supervisor, who will make the final decision on 
the award.   
 



The Business Plan will be independently reviewed by El Camino College SBDC.   The business plan review 
will be taken into consideration by the evaluation panel and Forest Supervisor.  Please see #8 above. 

11. Does the FS commit to providing applicants with a debriefing for this solicitation, whether or not the 
applicant is awarded the permit? If yes, please explain whether it will be a written or verbal debriefing, 
the contents of the debriefing, and the requirements for requesting the debriefing? If not, why not? 
 
ANSWER:  The GPNF does not plan on a debriefing, per se.  In the past, the GPNF notified the successful 
bidder of their award.  All other applicants were notified via letter of the award as well. 

12. Regarding Part 16. Diseases of the Sample Operating Plan, which states “No problems with Hantavirus 
or plaque (sic) have been identified in the past or at present.” If this is accurate, we are wondering why 
this Part 16 is included? Should applicants include this Part 16 regarding diseases? 

ANSWER:  At this time there are no known problems with Hantavirus or plague.  These could crop up at 
any time – or not at all.  It is best to have a plan of action in place for prevention and/or treatment, 
rather than begin planning once the diseases are on-site.  Yes, it is recommended that prospective 
applicants address these.   

13. Regarding Part 17. Rodent Control of the Sample Operating Plan, which states “No problems with rodent 
control have been identified in the past or at present.” If this is accurate, we are wondering why this Part 
17 is included? Should applicants include this Part 17 regarding rodent control? 

ANSWER:  At this time there are no known problems with rodents.  These could crop up at any time – 
or not at all.  It is best to have a plan of action in place for prevention and/or treatment, rather than 
begin planning should rodents become a problem.  Yes, it is recommended that prospective applicants 
address this.   

14. Regarding the La Wis Wis Guard Station, Page 19 of the prospectus states: “This is currently under 
construction but very close to being ready for the cabin rental program.” What is the cabin rental 
program and how will it affect the campgrounds concessionaire? 

ANSWER:  The La Wis Wis Guard Station (cabin) is mentioned as a potential future addition to the 
campground concession permit.  The Guard Station is surrounded by La Wis Wis Campground and is 
accessed by the same road.  

The cabin rental program is typically operated by the Forest Service but cabins can be operated by 
partners or concessioners as well.   The cabin rental program provides an opportunity for people to 
rent overnight facilities.  These may be old Guard Stations, fire lookouts, etc.  For more information 
on available facilities, see National Recreation Reservation Service website at www.recreation.gov. 
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15. Can you please tell me the last time the fees were adjusted and how much the change was? 

ANSWER:  The following campgrounds had a $2 fee increases at single campsites in 2012. 
 
Campground  2011  2012 
Big Creek   $16  $18 
Takhlakh Lake  $16  $18 
Beaver   $18  $20 
Panther Creek  $16  $18 
 

16. I noticed Adams area revenue went up 12% then falls 5% through the three year period.  The Cowlitz area 
has been declining 3% per year.   The occupancy rates in Appendix 22 show high 50% to low 60%.  Why 
has the gross revenue gone down during the listed three year period?  

ANSWER:  Potential causes for gross revenue decreases include length of season, environmental factors 
(e.g. wet spring or late snows), hot temperatures/fire closures, road closures, among others - or any 
combination of these. 

Length of season – Lower elevation campgrounds usually open by Thursday before Memorial Day through 
Tuesday after Labor Day.  Basically, 2015 had an extra week of operations. 

Environmental Factors – A wet spring (May – June) discourages camping.  Late snow affects opening 
operations and dates at the high elevation campgrounds.  In 2017 late winter snows delayed the pre-
season operations and full-service openings in the high lakes campgrounds, affecting revenues of 7 
campgrounds. 

Hot Temperatures/Fire Closures – In 2015-2016, hot temperatures seemed to reduce overall visitation.  
Some campers chose to go elsewhere to avoid the heat, dusty roads and trails, and fire closures.  In 
addition, firewood sales likely decreased during these hot summers.   

Road Closures – FR 23, primary access for many of our main campgrounds, washed out December 2015.  
Alternate access was considerably longer, resulting in a noticeable decrease in traffic and use.  This 
impacted the entire 2016 and 2017 camping season, with the road re-opening to the public early fall 
2017.  Access to 8 campgrounds was affected.    

17. What does the FS mean by shared "responsibilities" in those select day use areas?  Can you provide 
information as to how that would work? 

ANSWER:  There are no “shared responsibilities day use areas” in the 2019 Gifford Pinchot National 
Forest Campground Concessioner Prospectus.  Potential applicants should base their proposals on 
offerings in the prospectus.   

18. There is a closed restroom in Peterson Group area that is now being serviced by Portable toilets.  Is this a 
temporary short term situation or could this be more long term and is the concessionaire responsible for 
paying for the portable toilets? 

ANSWER:  There are no closed restrooms or portable toilets in Peterson Group area.  With regard to who 
is responsible for paying for the portable toilets, it depends on why the existing toilet is out of 



commission.  Responsibility would be decided on a case-by-case basis. 

19. We noticed that Goose Lake is currently being operated by the Forest Service   Has this campground 
always been run by the Forest Service and has there been a host that has been used in the past?  We did 
not see any trash receptacles or dumpsters at this location.  To your knowledge will the local trash vendor 
not service Goose Lake? 

ANSWER:  The Forest Service has operated Goose Lake campground as a Pack It In – Pack It Out site since 
2009.  Prior to 2009, Goose Lake campground was part of the campground concession permit with an on-
site host.  
 
The local trash vendor will not leave pavement.  Goose Lake is <4 miles off pavement, so at this time, the 
local trash vendor will not service this site.   

20. Are there any plans to repair the water line to La Wis Wis "D" loop? 

ANSWER:  There are no particular problems with La Wis Wis “D” loop waterline.  There are plans to 
replace/modify the La Wis Wis campground distribution lines (waterlines) as funds become available.  
Because of the expense, there are no plans to re-establish water service to La Wis Wis “H” loop.   

21. Is it a water quality issue or an equipment issue regarding providing water to the public at Sunset Falls? 

ANSWER:   Initially, Sunset Falls was a public water system.  Then it was discovered to have potential 
surface water influence.  Expensive water system repairs are required to meet State DOH public drinking 
water regulations.  Single service to the host site is not considered a public drinking water system.  
Negative water test results have not been a problem at this location.   

22. What is the Forest Service guideline for the number of reservable sites on average in the campgrounds?   

ANSWER:  The Forest Service is required to have a minimum of 60% of the campsites available for 
reservations at any of the campgrounds that are on the reservation system.  In addition, at campgrounds 
on the reservation system, the Forest requires 30% of the campsites be available on first come-first serve 
basis.  It is expected that both reservable and first come-first serve sites will be representative of 
characteristic campsites throughout the campground.  For instance, all waterside campsites being 
available to only people with reservations would not be allowed. 

23. Are any of the older Romtec style toilets scheduled for replacement either using GT of CIP funds?  If so, at 
what locations? 

ANSWER:  Older toilets are planned for replacement as funds become available.  Funds may come from 
Granger-Thye, Capital Improvement Program, other sources or a combination of these.  Current non-
functioning toilets at Moss Creek (See Q24 below.) and La Wis Wis Loop A, are highest priority. 

24. In Moss Creek campground one of the newer CXT toilets near site #14 was closed down with portable 
toilets placed outside.  Can you provide the status of this toilet and when might it be reopened? 

ANSWER:  As funds become available, plans are to remove the existing old wooden building and evaluate 
the need for replacement and/or relocation of this particular toilet.  This Moss Creek toilet and La Wis 
Wis Loop A toilet are highest priority for replacement.  



25. Is there any plan or desire to rehab Bert's Amphitheater in Peterson Prairie campground? 

ANSWER:   The Forest Service currently has no specific plans to rehabilitate or reconstruct the 
amphitheater at Peterson Prairie campground, but is interested in seeking partners or volunteers to assist 
with rehabilitating the amphitheater. 

26. Is there a fee for the use of the shelter at La Wis Wis?  

ANSWER:  The current campground concessioner charges a $5 fee at the historic La Wis Wis Picnic 
Shelter. 

27. With the Kalama Horse Camp revenue, can you please offer a little clarification as to what the collection 
issues were?  Fee tube.  Host ? 

ANSWER:  Currently there is no host at Kalama Horse Camp.  In the past there have been problems with 
theft and vandalism at the fee tubes.   

 
 


